ORIGINAL

D017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

SEP 24 2001

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
BY DU

OMAR WILSON,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

CAREY HAUGHWOUT
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida

Case No. Scol-2083

ALLEN J. DeWEESE
Assistant Public Defender
Attorney for Omar Wilson
Criminal Justice Building/6th Floor
421 3rd Street
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600
Florida Bar No. 237000

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant at trial and the appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Respondent was the prosecution and the appellee.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts which follow are from the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirming Petitioner's community control revocation. The opinion was filed August 15, 2001 (Appendix), and Notice of Intent to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed September 13, 2001.

On the date of the final revocation hearing, the trial judge offered Petitioner a plea bargain to the bottom of his guidelines - 128 months in prison, in exchange for admitting the violation. Petitioner's attorney advised the court that Petitioner would enter an open plea. Apparently the trial judge did not hear that the plea was open and began a colloquy concerning a plea to 128 months. When counsel clarified that Petitioner was entering an open plea and would present evidence to support a downward departure the court withdrew its offer and instructed that the case be set for a final hearing.

After a break the case was called up for a final hearing. Petitioner was questioned by counsel to confirm that he did not want to accept the court's offer and wanted a final hearing. The court interjected:

THE COURT: And my advice to you was the court's offer was the bottom of the guidelines and in my opinion you should have taken it.

The revocation hearing proceeded and Petitioner was found guilty. Community control was revoked and Petitioner was sentenced to 150 months.

Petitioner successfully argued on appeal that he had to be resentenced under <u>Heggs v. State</u>, 759 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000). He also contended on appeal that the sentence greater than the plea bargain offered by the court was vindictive and that he should be resentenced by another judge. The District Court, while reversing for resentencing under <u>Heggs</u>, held that Petitioner was not improperly penalized for rejecting the plea offer, and that he could be resentenced by the same judge.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner was punished for exercising his right to a trial by a sentence greater than what he was offered for a plea before trial. The Fourth District's decision affirming the greater sentence was counter to decisions from this Court and from the First, Third and Fifth Districts stating that one cannot be punished with a greater sentence for exercising the right to a trial.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OF THE FIRST, THIRD AND FIFTH DISTRICTS HOLDING THAT A DEFENDANT MAY NOT BE PUNISHED FOR EXERCISING HIS RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY A SENTENCE GREATER THAN THAT OFFERED FOR A PLEA BEFORE TRIAL. 1

The decision of the Fourth District in this case conflicts with the decisions discussed below. The conflict is express and direct and appears on the face of the court's opinion, and therefore confers jurisdiction on this Court. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv); see also, Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980).

In the instant case the Fourth District held that Petitioner was not punished for exercising his right to a trial where he received a greater sentence after trial, 150 months, than the sentence offered by the court before trial, 128 months.

In <u>City of Daytona Beach v. Del Percio</u>, 476 So. 2d 197, 205 (Fla. 1985), this Court stated:

... While the judge's discussion suggests he may also have imposed the sentence because he believed Moore lied during the trial, the proper method of imposing punishment for perjury would be through а separate prosecution. Conflicting evidence inheres in most trials, and to allow imposition of a harsher sentence merely because the trial judge believes the evidence supporting his finding of guilt, would create a catch-22 the defendant may not be punished for his exercising of the right to trial but may be

¹This argument is similar to that in the pending petition for review in <u>Abukareem Eltaher v. State</u>, Supreme Court Case No. SC01-657.

punished for his lack of candor during the trial.

In <u>State v. Warner</u>, 762 So. 2d 507, 514 (Fla. 2000), this Court stated that even in plea bargaining, sentencing may not hinge on the exercise of the right to a trial.

In <u>Cavallaro v. State</u>, 647 So. 2d 1006 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994), the Third District stated, "A party's decision to go to trial rather than accept a plea bargain is not punishable by the imposition of a harsher sentence as to do so would impinge on the constitutional right to trial by jury."

In <u>Byrd v. State</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D1954 (Fla. 5th DCA August 10, 2001), the Fifth District reversed for a sentence within what the court offered before trial because the trial court showed no reason why its pre-trial evaluation of the appropriate sentence for the offense was in error. The greater sentence was presumed vindictive.

In <u>Simpson v. State</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D1593 (Fla. 1st DCA June 26, 2001), the First District found the trial judge's "standard policy" of refusing to consider post-trial release, after a defendant rolled the dice" by going to trial and losing, to be an indefensible sanction for asserting the right to a trial.

The instant decision conflicts with the above decisions disallowing a greater sentence after trial. This Court must exercise the jurisdiction conferred in this case by the conflict in order to resolve it and to reaffirm the essential constitutional right to trial without punishment for its exercise at sentencing.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited therein, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to accept review.