045

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS D. HALL

OCT 0 3 2001

CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY

case no. <u>SCOI-2043</u>

DCA CASE NO. 4D99-3398

OMAR WILSON,

Petitioner,

-vs-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND
Division Chief

BARBARA A. ZAPPI

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0782602 Office of the Attorney General Criminal Appellate Division 110 S.E. 6th Street, 9th Floor Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 Telephone: (954) 712-4832 Facsimile: (954) 712-4761

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, OMAR WILSON, was the Defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Respondent, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecuting authority in the trial court and the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The parties shall be referred to as Petitioner and Respondent in this brief, except that Petitioner may also be referred to as "Defendant" and Respondent may also be referred to as the "State". The symbol "App." followed by a letter, colon and page number, if necessary, refers to the appendix to this brief, which contains a conformed copy of the slip opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in the instant cause.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Defendant was charged in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida with manslaughter with a firearm, and was sentenced to two years community control followed by five years probation. (App. A:1). The State later alleged Defendant violated his community control by failing to remain confined to his approved residence. (A:1).

On the date of his final hearing before the Honorable Sheldon M. Schapiro, Defendant indicated he wished to enter an open plea and admission to the violation. (A:1). The trial judge asked Defendant if anyone had promised him anything other than the fact

the court would revoke his probation, adjudicate him guilty if he hadn't previously been adjudicated guilty, and sentence him to 128 months state prison, with credit for time served. (A:1). Defense counsel then interjected he would like for the court to hear from Defendant. (A:1). The court asked what the purpose of hearing from Defendant would be since 128 months was the bottom of the guidelines and he couldn't go any lower. Counsel answered they were asking that Defendant be reinstated [to community control]. (A:1).

The judge stated he thought there was an agreement; counsel said no, it was an open plea. (A:1). When defense counsel said Defendant still wanted to admit to the violation, the trial court immediately said it would not go any lower than the 128 months and that they would go to a final hearing. (A:1). Defendant conferred with counsel. When counsel told the court Defendant did not want to accept the court's offer of 128 months, the court withdrew the offer. (A:1).

After a recess, defense counsel announced he was ready to proceed to a final hearing. (A:1-2). The court asked Defendant if that was what he wanted to do, go to a final hearing. Defendant responded, "Yes, sir," and said he did not want to accept the court's offer of 128 months. (A:2). The judge told Defendant the offer was the bottom of the guidelines, and in his opinion Defendant should have taken it. (A:2).

The violation of probation hearing commenced. The court heard testimony from Defendant's community control officer (T:6-27), from Defendant (T:27-32), and from Defendant's girlfriend (T:32-36). At the end of the hearing, the trial court found Defendant willfully violated his community control. (A:2). Then, without commenting on the rejected plea offer, the trial court revoked Defendant's community control and sentenced him to 150 months in state prison. (A:2). His sentencing guidelines ranged from 128.625 months to 214.375 months. (A:2).

Defendant's point on appeal was that his sentence was presumptively vindictive because the trial judge offered a plea settlement to the bottom of the guidelines but imposed a greater sentence after he rejected that offer. (A:2). The Fourth District Court of Appeal disagreed with Defendant's claim and cited to Mitchell v. State, 521 So. 2d 185 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), in which they previously explained:

Absent a demonstration by the defendant of judicial vindictiveness or punitive action, a defendant may not complain simply because he received a heavier sentence after trial. disparity between the sentence received and the earlier offer will not alone support a finding of vindictiveness. ... Having rejected offer οf a lesser sentence, defendant] assumes the risk of receiving a harsher sentence. Were it otherwise, plea bargaining would be futile. Id. at 190 (citations omitted).

(A:2-3).

The court found the plea offer was given and was voluntarily rejected and the trial judge made no remarks which would give any indication the harsher sentence was being imposed as a punitive measure for rejecting the previous offer. (A:3). In addition, the court noted although the judge reiterated the plea offer at the start of the hearing, he did not refer to it again at sentencing, or even at resentencing. (A:3). The court thus held Defendant was not improperly penalized for rejecting the plea offer, and may be resentenced by the same judge. (A:3).

Defendant now seeks discretionary review by this Court on the grounds the Fourth District Court of Appeal herein is in express and direct conflict with opinions of this Honorable Court in City of Daytona Beach v. Del Percio, 476 So. 2d 197 (Fla. 1985), State v. Warner, 762 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 2000), and the decision of the district courts of appeal in Cavallaro v. State, 647 So. 2d 1006 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), Byrd v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D1954 (Fla. 5th DCA Aug. 10, 2001) and Simpson v. Campbell, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D1593 (Fla. 1st DCA June 26, 2001). A copy of the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal is attached hereto. (App. A).

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT IN CITY OF DAYTONA BEACH V. PERCIO, 476 SO. 2D 197 (FLA. 1985) AND STATE V. WARNER, 762 SO. 2D 507 (FLA. 2000), AND THE DECISIONS OF THE DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL IN CAVALLARO V. STATE, 647 SO. 2D 1006 (FLA. 3D DCA 1994), BYRD V. STATE, 26 FLA. L. WEEKLY D1954 (FLA 5TH DCA AUG. 10, 2001) AND SIMPSON V. CAMPBELL, 26 FLA. L. WEEKLY D1593 (FLA. 1ST DCA JUNE 26, 2001) ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In order to invoke the conflict jurisdiction of this court, a Petitioner must demonstrate there is express and direct conflict between the decision being challenged and holdings of other Florida appellate courts or of this Court on the same rule of law so as to produce a different result than other state appellate courts faced with substantially the same facts. Here, the Fourth District Court of Appeal specifically stated the plea offer was given and was voluntarily rejected, and the trial judge made no remarks which would give any indication the harsher sentence was being imposed as a punitive measure for rejecting the previous offer.

The appellate courts deciding <u>City of Daytona Beach v. Percio</u>

<u>Cavallaro v. State</u>, <u>Byrd v. State</u>, and <u>Simpson v. Campbell</u>

determined the trial judges' comments there clearly showed that harsher sentences were imposed because those defendants exercised their right to go to trial rather than accept a plea bargain.

Here, however, the Fourth District Court found the plea offer was voluntarily rejected and the trial judge made no remarks that indicated the harsher sentence was being imposed as a punitive measure for rejecting the previous offer.

As an express and direct conflict does not exist between the cases Petitioner relies on and the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, this Honorable Court should exercise its discretion to decline discretionary jurisdiction on the basis of conflict under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) and Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

ARGUMENT

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT IN CITY OF DAYTONA BEACH V. DEL PERCIO, 476 SO. 2D 197 (FLA. 1985) AND STATE V. WARNER, 762 SO. 2D 507 (FLA. 2000), AND THE DECISIONS OF THE DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL IN CAVALLARO V. STATE, 647 SO. 2D 1006 (FLA. 3D DCA 1994), BYRD V. STATE, 26 FLA. L. WEEKLY D1954 (FLA. 5TH DCA AUG. 10, 2001) AND SIMPSON V. CAMPBELL, 26 FLA. L. WEEKLY D1593 (FLA. 1ST DCA JUNE 26, 2001) ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

Discretionary jurisdiction of this Honorable Court may be exercised to review, among other matters, decisions of district courts of appeal which expressly and directly conflict with a decision of this Court or of another district court of appeal on the same question of law. Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). Decisions are considered to be in express and direct conflict when the conflict appears within the four corners of the majority decisions. Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Neither the record itself nor the dissenting opinion may be used to establish jurisdiction. Id.

Here, the Fourth District Court of Appeal determined the plea offer was given and was voluntarily rejected, and the trial judge made no remarks which would give any indication the harsher sentence was being imposed as a punitive measure for rejecting the previous offer.

In City of Daytona Beach v. Del Percio, 476 So. 2d 197, 205 (Fla. 1985), this Court noted disparate sentences between those of equal culpability, for instance when one defendant plea bargains for a lesser punishment while the other goes to trial, are not per se indicative the harsher sentence is an impermissible punishment for exercising the right to trial. There were several defendants in Del <u>Percio</u>. Del Percio and others pled nolo contendere and received no fines or penalties. Defendant Moore chose to go to trial and was This Court stated the trial judge's reasoning fined \$500. demonstrated Moore's exercise of the right to trial was a factor in sentencing. This Court commented the judge's discussion suggested he may also have imposed the sentence because he believed Moore lied during the trial; however, this Court found nothing other than the trial court distinguished Moore from the others, and thus held, as a matter of law, that she could not be sentenced any more harshly than they. Id. at 206.

The issue in <u>State v. Warner</u>, 762 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 2000) was whether judicial participation in the plea bargaining process was permissible. Accordingly, <u>Warner</u> is inapplicable to the question presented here.

In <u>Cavallaro v. State</u>, 647 So. 2d 1006 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), the trial judge commented at sentencing that Cavallaro had not accepted responsibility for his actions, and complained because he had failed to accept a plea bargain. The Third District noted that at trial,

defendant did not put on any evidence or witnesses, but merely argued the State had failed to meet its burden of proof. <u>Id</u>. at 1007 n.1. The Third District thus held the trial court could not impose a harsher sentence for defendant's decision to go to trial rather than to accept the plea bargain.

The trial judge in <u>Byrd v. State</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D1954 (Fla. 5th DCA Aug. 10, 2001) clearly indicated that defendant's sentence would vary depending on the choice he made when she stated, "He certainly won't get that low if he goes to trial." There was no such comment by the trial judge here. Petitioner's reliance on <u>Simpson v. Campbell</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D1593 (Fla. 1st DCA June 26, 2001), is also misplaced. The trial judge in <u>Simpson</u> had a "standard policy" of not permitting a defendant who "rolls the dice" and goes to trial and is convicted by a jury to remain on bond. There was no "standard policy" in the courtroom of the trial judge in this case.

The controlling facts and issues raised before the respective appellate courts giving rise to the appeals in each of the cases relied upon by Petitioner are dissimilar in material respects to the instant case. Accordingly, there is no express and direct conflict between this case and the above cited cases so as to produce a different result than other state appellate courts faced with substantially the same facts. Hence, this Honorable Court should exercise its discretion to decline to review the instant cause.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing arguments and cited authorities, Petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court to decline to accept discretionary jurisdiction.